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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Merieult House is a fine example of the type of house being erected in
New Orleans during the period following the devastating fires of 1788 and
1794,

It is a two_story structure of brick construction, with a moderately
pitched roof with its ridge parallel to the front of the house. The roof,
now slate, was originally covered with tiles. The facade, built flush with
the property line, extends the full width of the lot--one of the original
city lots of 60 by 120 French feet.

A boldly molded cement-plaster cornice extends across the entire facade at
the eaves, broken at each end to form a sort of capital to the plain
plastered pilasters at each end of the second story.

A series of seven similar and equally spaced triple hung windows, with
louvred shutters, extends across the second floor front, all opening onto
a handsome cast iron balcony of an unusual geometric design. The wrought
iron supporting stanchions are topped by polished brass balls and divide
the railing into about ten panels. The full length windows are enframed
by broad flat stucco bands, the remainder of the brick wall being covered
with a smooth cement stucco, scored to represent stone jointing. The
triple hung wood sash and louvred blinds of the second story, as well as
the balcony railing, are probably part of the extensive remodelling that
took place in the 1830's. The original openings in 1792 would undoubtedly
have been fitted with double casement doors with a wood panel in the lower
part of each leaf and small, glazed lights above.

The ground floor facade is also a part of the 1830's renovation, and con-
sists of a series of monolithic square granite pilasters with molded
granite capitals that are typical of the period. These support a broad
flat granite lintel crowned by a simple bold granite Greek Revival torus
molding. Above this extend the wrought iron supports for the balcony. The
doors and show windows, set between the granite pilasters, are conjectural
restorations of the 1830's shop fronts, designed by Richard Koch, architect,
for the present owner in 1938.
In the rear of the house is an extensive courtyard, formerly entered by a
carriage way, but now by a pedestrlan way in which a stairway to the second
story has been erected. The rear facade of the principal house is almost
obscured by the two and three story service wings that flank the courtyard.

The original plan of the main house was apparently L shaped, and the half
gable end of the ell can be seen above the balcony of the rear facade. An
original dormer window, with a steeply pitched roof and batten shutter is
original. The open space between the front part of the house and the ell
was covered with a flat roof, and additional rooms, with fine Greek Revival
detail, were added in this area in the 1830's.

The two story wing on the upper side of the courtyard behind the original
ell, has an extremely high first story with three long arched doors, glazed
fanlight transoms and massive panelled shutters. The great room inside,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
This building is significant for the following reasons:

Jean Francois Merieult was a merchent prince of his day who operated a

v
It was built 1n 1792 durlng the Spanlsh Colonlal perlod in New
Orleans.

It is the only surviving building in the area of a destructive fire
that razed the upper part of the little City of New Orleans from
Orleans Street to Canal Street in 1T79kL.

It is one of the seven oldest buildings in the city: Ursuline Convent,
1745-50; Mme John's Legacy, 1788; Lafitte Blacksmith Shop, post 1781;
Ossorno House, 1784; St. Louis Cathedral, 1789-9L4; Cavelier House,
1789; Merieult House, 1792.

Merieult House is an important example of a combined business establish-
ment and dwelling in colonial New Orleans. It was customary here for
the commercial or professional operation to be on the ground floor with
the family residence above. In Merieult's inventory the ground floor
was described as having "six Magasins." From here Merieult conducted
his far-flung shipping enterprises. -

fleet of ships between Le Havre, London, the West Coast of Africa, St.
Domingue, Havana and New Orleans. Around,1788 he settled here as a
cofmission merchant, making New Orleans his headquarters and home for
the rest of his life.

It was the commission merchants who financed the plantation system of
the deep south, advancing money on crops, buying abroad for their
clients on this credit. They were, in effect, private Wankers; for
there was no bank in New Orleans until Territorial times, when Governor
Claiborne established the Bank of Louisiana and the Federal Government
built a branch of the Bank of the United States to stabilize the un-
certain econonmy.

Merieult House has served as a comm1351on establlshment until after

After Merieult's death two of his business assgciates occupled the
property. Then it was sold in 1832 to Lizardd Hermanos, Cuban commis-
sion merchants with offices in Havana, Mexico City, Paris and London.
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6. Representation in Existing Surveys Continued:

Title of Survey:

(1) Catalogue of Historic American Building Survey (Supplement)
(2) Vieux Carre Survey
(3) "Historic District Demonstration Study: Plan and

Program for the Vieux Carre"

Dates of Surveys:

(1) 19h1
(2) 1966
(3) 1968

Depository for Survey Records:

(1) Library of Congress

(2) Howard Tilton Memorial Library
The Historic New Orleans Collection
Vieux Carre Commission

(3) Bureau of Governmental Research

Street and Number:

(1)
(2) Tulane University

533 Royal Street

630 Chartres Street
(3) Richards Building, 837 Gravier Street

City or Town: o State: Code:
(1) Washington D.C. 20540
(2) New Orleans Louisiana 70118

New Orleans Louisiana 70130
New Orleans Louisiana 70130

(3) New Orleans Louisiana 70112
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Merieult House, Physical Appearance Continued:

with its handsome Greek Revival detail of pilasters, Jonic columns and plaster
ceiling rosette or center flower, is in the process of restoration. The
second floor rooms, with louvre-shuttered casement doors, also have some in-
teresting Greek Revival detail. On this wing the second floor wood balcony,
which continues across the rear of the main house at a lower level, has turn-
ed wood columns and simple wooden balustrades of the 1830's type.

The three story wing on the opposite side of the courtyard has wood balconies
with Creek Revival type rectangular posts with molded wooden caps of the
1840's or 50's style. Parts of the walls of these service wings probably
date from a much earlier period.

The main house has been extensively remodelled on the interior with elegant
detail on the second floor, including door and window trim and marble mantels
of the 1830's Greek Revival type. Some detail, however, remains from the
original 1790's period, including doors and cornices.

Across the front are three large nearly square rooms,each with its fireplace
and mantel. A cross hell, with a stairway to the attic at one end, lies be-
hind these three front rooms, and other large rooms and the stair hall ex-
tend beyond it in the former ell wing and the open courtyard area that was
once in front of it.

The entire upper story has been remodelled recently as exhibition galleries
for The Historic New Orleans Collection, with modern heating, air condition-
ing, lighting, etec.; but the original features of this important house have
been carefully preserved and restored.
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Statement of Significance Continued:

With this purchase they established Merieult House as their New Orieans
headquarters.

At this time an o0ld terrace-roofed warehouse in the courtyard was given a
new front and a second story. Fine Greek Revival interior detail was in-
stalled in some second story rooms and the great ground floor chamber,
which seemingly became the "counting house." From this elegant private
bank the Lizardis operated their shipping interests, invested in railroads,
managed their extensive real estate, and continued to finance the planta-
tion economy .

/
In 1857, at the death of the senior partner, the Lizardi firm sold this
property, and its life as a significant commercial enterprise ended.

Merieult House is now the repository of a great collection of paintings,
prints, maps, books, documents, ephemera and artifacts concerned with
Toulsiana and New Orleans. As a necessary adjunct to the pictorial collecH
tion a large and important compilation of biographical and critical mate-
rial on Louisiana artists, both native and transient, has been assembled
through many years of unremitting research. This unique collection has
proven to be of value to scholars and fellow art institutions throughout
the state as an important reference resocurce.

In its recent adaptation to museum purposes, the original rooms have been
made into eleven galleries for the public display of this collection.
These exhibitions are to be changed periodically throughout the year. 1In
this adaptation the original nature of these late 18th century rooms, up-
dated with early Greek Revival detail, has not been altered.

The second story of the counting house is presently serving as curatorial
quarters and a library-~which is not yet open to the publiec. It is plan-
ned that the great ground floor room of the counting house will become the
study center, when the library is ready to be opened to scholars in 1972.

During recent restoration, walls were opened and extremely important in-
formation was gleaned on late colonial building techniques in New Orleans.
A set of interesting documentary photographs was taken of all these finds.

It was discovered, when the walls of the counting house were exposed, that
the thrifty Merieult House masons had bonded their Spanish brick onto ex-
isting portlons of an older French brlck wall--probably belonging to the
previous house on this site, erected in 1757 ‘and destroyed by fire.

In these walls were French arches topped by Spanish-style arches of later
vintage. Long narrow appertures, in the lower portlon of the walls, con-
tained wrought iron "thistle" inserts through-¥hich the rooms "breathed."
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Statement of Significance Continued:

10.

Here, too, were old bricks coated with a burnt-looking glaze, indicating
the fierce heat of a great conflagration--the only such artifacts remain-
ing as physical evidence of the early destructive fires that twice des-
troyed the colonial city.

A collection of artifacts was acquired as the restoration progressed: old
iron hardware, shards of old plaster moldings and cornices, layers of
late 18th and early 19th century French wall paper and borders, narrow
French chimney breasts topped with delicate wooden moldings, encased in
broad~bosomed Victorian overmantels, etc. All these details were care-
fully documented as to site and use, anticipating an exhibition on the
architecture and archeology of the site.

Merieult Houge is architecturally true to type, being an excellent example
of a Creo;é/€§wn house of both the period in which it was built end the
date of its early Greek Revival alteration.

Merieult House has been restored in scrupulous detail by the leading
scholarly restoration architectural firm in this area: Rlchard Koch and
Samuel Wilson, Jr.
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